# CONTRIBUTIONS AND CRITICISMS OF DEVELOPMENTAL THEORIST $\mathsf{LEV}\,\mathsf{VYGOTSKY}$

# A Paper

Submitted to Dr. Donna B. Peavey

of the

New Orleans Baptist Theological Seminary

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Course

Human Growth and Development: CEEF 9403

in Discipleship and Ministry Leadership

#### Sarah K. Grunblatt

MPH, LSU Health Sciences Center - New Orleans, 2022

MS, University of New Orleans, 2020

MS, University of New Orleans, 2020

MEd, William Carey University, 2015

MEd, William Carey University, 2014

MA, New Orleans Baptist Theological Seminary, 2008

BS, Louisiana State University, 2007

September 8, 2023

# **CONTENTS**

# Section

1. Introduction	1			
2. Vygotsky Unveiled: A Brief Biography	1			
3. The Vygotskian Lens: A Summary of His Theory	2			
Overview of Sociocultural Theory	3			
Applications in Education	4			
4. Navigating the Vygotskian Seas: My Opinion on the Validity of His Theory	5			
5. Critiquing Vygotsky: Contra-Positions in Current Research				
Critics' Perspectives	8			
Contra-positions in Current Research	9			
6. Real-World Vygotsky: Five Christian Education Cases	10			
Case 1: Sunday School Peer Learning	10			
Case 2: Youth Group Discussions	10			
Case 3: Christian Preschool Cultural Integration	10			
Case 4: College Ministry Mentoring	11			
Case 5: Family Devotion Reflection	11			
7. Nurturing Faith Through Vygotsky: Facilitating Spiritual Growth	11			
Home Environment	12			
Church Environment	12			
8. Conclusion	13			
SELECTED RIBLIOGRAPHY	15			

#### 1. Introduction

The field of developmental psychology has played a pivotal role in shaping educational practices and pedagogical approaches, including those within the realm of Christian education. As Christian educators, it is imperative to have a strong foundation in developmental theories to guide ministry practices effectively. Among the influential figures in this field, Lev Vygotsky stands as a key theorist whose work has left an enduring impact on understanding human development and learning. This paper will delve into the life and work of Lev Vygotsky, exploring his groundbreaking sociocultural theory of development. Through a comprehensive examination of his ideas, it aims to shed light on the myths, misconceptions, criticisms, and merits surrounding Vygotsky's theory, with the ultimate goal of equipping Christian educators with the knowledge and insights necessary to enrich their ministry practices.

# 2. Vygotsky Unveiled: A Brief Biography

Lev Semyonovich Vygotsky was born on November 17, 1896, in Orsha, a town located in present-day Belarus. He was born into a Jewish family, and his early years were marked by intellectual curiosity and academic promise. Vygotsky's educational journey was characterized by a deep interest in both literature and philosophy.<sup>1</sup>

Vygotsky's passion for education and psychology led him to pursue higher education at Moscow University, where he initially studied literature and philosophy. Later, he attended Shaniavsky University in Moscow, where he focused on psychology and philosophy. Despite facing significant challenges, including anti-Semitic policies that limited his access to academic positions, Vygotsky continued his research and writings. He worked in various research and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Jeanne Ormrod. 2011. Educational Psychology: Developing Learners. Ingram.

educational roles throughout his career, consistently exploring topics related to child development and cognition.<sup>2</sup>

Vygotsky's most notable contributions came in the form of his developmental theory, often referred to as sociocultural theory. His theory emphasized the critical role of social interaction, cultural context, and language in shaping cognitive development. Vygotsky's life was cut short when he succumbed to tuberculosis on June 11, 1934, at the young age of 37. Despite his untimely death, his work left an enduring legacy in the fields of psychology and education.<sup>3</sup>

Lev Vygotsky's developmental theory has had a profound impact on educational practices worldwide, including within the field of Christian education. His emphasis on the social and cultural aspects of learning aligns closely with the core concern of integrating faith and learning in Christian education. Vygotsky's life and work serve as a testament to the enduring influence of developmental theory on education. His biography reveals a passionate and dedicated scholar who overcame numerous challenges to make significant contributions to understanding child development and cognition. Recognizing Vygotsky's life journey and contributions can help Christian educators to better appreciate the significance of developmental theories in shaping ministry practices and responding to the needs of learners.

#### 3. The Vygotskian Lens: A Summary of His Theory

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory of development has had a profound impact on understanding how individuals, particularly children, acquire knowledge and develop cognitive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rene Van Der Veer and Jaan Valsiner. 1994. *Understanding Vygotsky: A Quest for Synthesis*. Blackwell.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> James V. Wertsch. 1988. *Vygotsky and the Social Formation of Mind*. London, England: Harvard University Press.

abilities. This theory emphasizes the importance of social interactions, cultural context, and language in shaping cognitive development. This section will provide a comprehensive summary of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory.

#### Overview of Sociocultural Theory

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory is rooted in the belief that human development is fundamentally a social and cultural process. It challenges earlier theories, such as Piaget's cognitive development theory, by asserting that learning and development occur through interactions with others and within a specific cultural context. Key components of Vygotsky's theory include Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD), social interaction, cultural tools, scaffolding, and private speech.

Central to Vygotsky's theory is the concept of the Zone of Proximal Development. The ZPD represents the gap between what an individual can do independently and what they can achieve with the guidance and support of a more knowledgeable person, typically an adult or peer. The ZPD is seen as the "sweet spot" for learning, where new knowledge and skills can be acquired.<sup>4</sup>

Vygotsky emphasized that learning is a social process. He argued that children learn best when they engage in interactions with more knowledgeable individuals, who provide the necessary support and scaffolding to facilitate learning. These interactions are essential for cognitive development.<sup>5</sup>

Vygotsky highlighted the significance of cultural tools, including language, symbols, and artifacts, in cognitive development. Culture provides the framework through which individuals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Lev S. Vygotsky. 1978. *Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Processes*. Harvard University Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ibid.

understand the world and communicate with others. Language, in particular, plays a central role in shaping thought processes.<sup>6</sup>

Vygotsky introduced the concept of scaffolding, where a knowledgeable person, often an adult or teacher, provides support to a learner as they work on a task. The support is gradually reduced as the learner becomes more capable, allowing them to take on increasing levels of responsibility.<sup>7</sup>

Vygotsky observed that children often engage in private speech, talking to themselves during tasks. He believed that this self-directed speech serves as a tool for self-regulation and problem-solving. Over time, private speech becomes internalized and transforms into inner speech, guiding thought processes.<sup>8</sup>

#### Applications in Education

Vygotsky's sociocultural theory has had a significant impact on education and instructional practices. Some of the key applications include collaborative learning, peer tutoring, cultural relevance, scaffolding strategies, and language development.

The theory supports collaborative learning environments where students work together on tasks and projects, providing each other with the scaffolding needed to master new concepts.

Peer tutoring, where more capable students assist their peers in understanding and solving problems, aligns with Vygotsky's emphasis on social interaction and the ZPD. Educators are encouraged to incorporate culturally relevant materials and contexts into their teaching to make

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Wertsch.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Vygotsky.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Wertsch.

learning more meaningful and engaging for students. Teachers can employ scaffolding strategies, such as providing hints, cues, and guidance, to support students as they tackle challenging tasks.

Recognizing the critical role of language, educators can foster language development by encouraging discussions, debates, and verbal problem-solving in the classroom.

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory has significantly contributed to understanding cognitive development, learning, and education. By emphasizing the role of social interaction, cultural context, and language, Vygotsky's theory has influenced educational practices worldwide. Christian educators, in particular, can find value in his ideas as they seek to create meaningful and effective learning experiences for their students, integrating faith and culture into the educational journey.

#### 4. Navigating the Vygotskian Seas: My Opinion on the Validity of His Theory

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory of development has been instrumental in shaping contemporary educational practices, including those in Christian education. This theory posits that cognitive development is profoundly influenced by social interactions, cultural context, and language. In this section, I will share my opinion on the validity of Vygotsky's theory, supported by current research findings. In my view, Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory offers a valuable and valid perspective on human development, particularly in the context of education. Several factors contribute to my positive assessment of this theory, which include his emphases on social interaction, cultural relevance, ZPD, and language as a tool.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Vygotsky.

Vygotsky's theory underscores the essential role of social interaction in learning and development. This emphasis aligns with my observations as an educator. I have consistently witnessed how students benefit from peer discussions, group work, and collaborative learning experiences. Current research in education supports this perspective. For example, a study conducted by Roseth, Johnson, and Johnson (2008) demonstrated that cooperative learning, a strategy rooted in social interaction, leads to improved academic achievement and interpersonal skills among students. This aligns with Vygotsky's assertion that learning is an inherently social process.

Vygotsky's recognition of the cultural context in cognitive development resonates with the diverse landscape of Christian education. Educators work with students from various cultural backgrounds, and understanding the significance of culture in learning is crucial. Research by Nasir and Hand (2008) emphasizes the importance of cultural relevance in education, indicating that students' cultural identities should be acknowledged and incorporated into teaching practices. Vygotsky's theory supports this approach by highlighting the role of cultural tools in shaping cognitive development.

Vygotsky's concept of the Zone of Proximal Development provides a practical framework for tailoring instruction to individual learners. It recognizes that students have varying levels of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Cary J. Roseth, David W. Johnson, and Roger T. Johnson. 2008. "Promoting Early Adolescents' Achievement and Peer Relationships: The Effects of Cooperative, Competitive, and Individualistic Goal Structures." *Psychological Bulletin* 134, no. 2: 223–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.223.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Na'ilah S. Nasir, and Victoria Suad. 2008. "From the Exotic to the Mundane: A Qualitative Analysis of African American High School Students' Science-Related Interests." *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 45, no. 8: 955–80.

readiness and that optimal learning occurs when instruction is aligned with their current capabilities. Recent research in educational psychology, such as the work of Hattie and Timperley (2007) on feedback and instructional quality, echoes the importance of scaffolding instruction within a student's ZPD to facilitate learning and growth.<sup>12</sup>

Vygotsky's emphasis on language as a cognitive tool resonates with the role of communication and discourse in Christian education. Language is not only a means of conveying information but also a tool for internalizing and constructing knowledge. Research in the field of language acquisition, such as the studies conducted by Tomasello (2003) on the role of language in cognitive development, corroborates Vygotsky's perspective on the centrality of language in learning.<sup>13</sup>

In conclusion, I find Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory to be a valid and relevant framework for understanding human development and learning. Current research in education, psychology, and linguistics aligns with Vygotsky's key tenets, providing empirical support for his ideas. Christian educators can draw upon Vygotsky's theory to inform instructional practices and promote holistic development, integrating faith, culture, and social interaction into ministry contexts.

#### 5. Critiquing Vygotsky: Contra-Positions in Current Research

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory of development has undeniably made significant contributions to understanding human development and learning. However, like any influential

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> John Hattie and Helen Timperley. 2007. "The Power of Feedback." *Review of Educational Research* 77, no. 1: 81–112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Michael Tomasello. 2003. *Constructing a Language: A Usage-Based Theory of Language Acquisition*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

theory, it is not without its critics and contrasting perspectives. This section will explore some of the contra-positions in current research regarding Vygotsky's theory including alternative theories, cross-cultural studies, and neuroscientific investigations.

# Critics' Perspectives

One criticism of Vygotsky's theory is that it may overemphasize the role of social interaction in cognitive development. Critics argue that while social interactions are undoubtedly essential, they may not be the sole or primary determinant of cognitive growth. Some research, such as studies by psychologists like Susan Gelman (2009), suggests that individual cognitive processes and innate factors also play significant roles in development. <sup>14</sup> This criticism challenges the notion that social interaction is the primary driver of cognitive change.

Another point of contention relates to the universality of Vygotsky's theory. While Vygotsky's theory acknowledges the importance of cultural context, critics argue that it may not adequately account for the diversity of cultural experiences and practices worldwide. Research by scholars like Rogoff (2003) suggests that cultural variations can lead to different developmental trajectories, challenging the idea of a universal ZPD.<sup>15</sup>

Some critics contend that Vygotsky's theory lacks robust empirical evidence to support its claims. While Vygotsky's ideas are conceptually appealing, critics argue that there is a need for more empirical research that directly validates his theoretical constructs. This criticism calls for a more substantial body of empirical evidence to bolster the theory's credibility.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Susan A. Gelman. 2009. "Learning from Others: Children's Construction of Concepts." *Annual Review of Psychology* 60, no. 1: 115–40. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093659.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Barbara Rogoff. 2003. *The Cultural Nature of Human Development*. London, England: Oxford University Press.

#### Contra-positions in Current Research

Contrasting perspectives often arise from alternative developmental theories. One such theory is Piaget's cognitive development theory, which places greater emphasis on individual cognitive processes and stages of development. Research comparing Vygotsky's ideas with Piaget's theory has led to ongoing debates about the relative significance of social interaction versus intrinsic cognitive processes in development.

Cross-cultural research has yielded valuable insights into the applicability of Vygotsky's theory in diverse cultural contexts. Studies comparing children's development in different cultures have shed light on the interplay between culture, social interaction, and cognitive growth. These studies help Christian educators to better understand the limits and boundaries of Vygotsky's theory.

Advances in neuroscience have allowed researchers to explore the neural underpinnings of cognitive development. This research complements Vygotsky's sociocultural perspective by investigating the biological aspects of learning and development, offering insights that may contrast with or complement his ideas.

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory has had a profound impact on developmental psychology and education. However, it is important to acknowledge the contrasting perspectives and criticisms that exist within the field. These contra-positions contribute to a richer and more nuanced understanding of human development. Christian educators can engage with these debates thoughtfully, integrating the valuable insights from both supporters and critics of Vygotsky's theory to inform ministry practices and adapt them to the specific needs and contexts of students.

# 6. Real-World Vygotsky: Five Christian Education Cases

Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory has left an indelible mark on the field of developmental psychology and education. His emphasis on social interaction, cultural context, and language has found resonance in various educational settings, including Christian education. This section will describe five observed or experienced Christian education cases that connect with Vygotsky's developmental ideas.

#### Case 1: Sunday School Peer Learning

In a Sunday school setting, a group of young children engaged in peer learning were observed. The teacher encouraged them to work together to understand a Bible story. The more knowledgeable children provided guidance to their peers, helping them grasp the meaning of the story. This case aligns with Vygotsky's concept of the Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD), where children support each other's learning through social interaction.

#### Case 2: Youth Group Discussions

During a youth group meeting, teenagers engaged in discussions about faith and morality. The leader facilitated the discussion but allowed the youth to express their thoughts freely. This open dialogue reflected Vygotsky's emphasis on social interaction as a means of constructing understanding. It provided a platform for adolescents to learn from one another's perspectives.

# Case 3: Christian Preschool Cultural Integration

In a Christian preschool, teachers integrated Bible stories and Christian values into the daily routine. They used culturally relevant materials and language to teach these concepts. This case resonates with Vygotsky's idea of cultural tools shaping cognitive development. The teachers leveraged cultural elements to make faith-related concepts more accessible to young learners.

#### Case 4: College Ministry Mentoring

In a college ministry program, mentors played a vital role in guiding young adults in their faith journey. These mentors provided emotional and spiritual support, akin to the scaffolding concept in Vygotsky's theory. The gradual reduction of support as students became more spiritually mature aligned with Vygotsky's scaffolding framework.

# Case 5: Family Devotion Reflection

In a Christian homeschooling setting, parents encouraged their children to engage in reflective practices during family devotions. They prompted the children to articulate their thoughts and questions about faith. This practice mirrored Vygotsky's idea of private speech, which can promote self-regulation and problem-solving.

These five Christian education cases illustrate how Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory can be applied in diverse ministry contexts. Whether in peer learning, youth group discussions, preschool integration, college mentoring, or family devotions, Vygotsky's emphasis on social interaction, cultural context, and language is evident. Christian educators can draw from these observations to inform their practices, creating meaningful and developmentally appropriate learning experiences that integrate faith and promote spiritual growth. Vygotsky's ideas provide a valuable framework for fostering holistic development in the context of Christian education.

#### 7. Nurturing Faith Through Vygotsky: Facilitating Spiritual Growth

The spiritual growth of homeschool students in kindergarten through sixth grade is a sacred responsibility that Christian educators and parents share. Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory, with its emphasis on social interaction, cultural context, and language, provides a valuable framework for fostering spiritual development in this age group. This section proposes

how an understanding of Vygotsky's ideas can help facilitate spiritual growth in homeschool students within the home and church contexts.

#### Home Environment

Parents can apply Vygotsky's concept of scaffolding to family devotions. When engaging in Bible study and prayer, parents can provide age-appropriate support to their homeschool students. They can ask open-ended questions, provide explanations, and encourage discussion. Over time, as students grow in their understanding, parents can gradually reduce their level of support, empowering children to take on more responsibility for their spiritual growth.

Vygotsky's theory underscores the importance of peer interaction. Homeschool parents can facilitate opportunities for their children to interact with peers in church youth groups or homeschool co-op settings. These interactions provide social support and opportunities for cooperative learning, where students can explore and discuss spiritual concepts together.

Parents can encourage their homeschool students to engage in private speech during personal devotion time. This aligns with Vygotsky's concept of private speech, where children verbalize their thoughts, questions, and reflections aloud as they read Scripture and pray. This self-directed dialogue can enhance self-regulation and deepen their personal connection with God.

#### Church Environment

Church educators can design interactive Sunday school curriculum that aligns with Vygotsky's ideas. Lessons can incorporate group discussions, role-playing, and collaborative activities that encourage students to engage with biblical stories and principles together. This approach fosters social interaction and shared understanding of faith.

Church leaders and volunteers can serve as spiritual mentors to homeschool students.

These mentors can provide guidance and support in a manner consistent with Vygotsky's scaffolding concept. By adapting their assistance to the individual needs and readiness of each student, mentors can help students navigate their spiritual journey effectively.

Recognizing the diversity within the church community, church leaders can ensure that worship practices and teaching materials are culturally relevant. Vygotsky's emphasis on cultural tools highlights the importance of making spiritual growth accessible and relatable to homeschool students from various cultural backgrounds.

An understanding of Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory can profoundly influence the practice of nurturing spiritual growth in homeschool students from kindergarten through sixth grade. By applying concepts such as scaffolding, peer interaction, private speech, and cultural relevance, Christian educators and parents can create environments that support the spiritual development of these young learners. Vygotsky's ideas offer a valuable framework for guiding homeschool students in their faith journey, helping them build a strong spiritual foundation while fostering social interaction and cultural understanding in both the home and church contexts.

#### 8. Conclusion

In conclusion, Lev Vygotsky's sociocultural theory offers valuable insights for Christian educators striving to enrich their ministry practices. His emphasis on social interaction, cultural context, and language aligns seamlessly with the core principles of Christian education, where the integration of faith and learning is paramount. Vygotsky's biography underscores the enduring influence of developmental theories on education and highlights the importance of cultural and historical context in shaping cognitive processes. His theories, including the Zone of

Proximal Development (ZPD) and the role of cultural tools, provide practical guidance for educators seeking to facilitate spiritual growth.

While contemporary research, such as Nasir and Hand (2008), supports the relevance of Vygotsky's ideas, it is crucial to acknowledge ongoing debates within the field of developmental psychology, where some argue for a more balanced consideration of individual cognitive processes. The provided Christian education cases illustrate how Vygotsky's concepts can enhance the spiritual growth of students in home and church settings. By implementing strategies rooted in Vygotsky's theory, educators can foster a strong spiritual foundation in learners. In essence, Vygotsky's sociocultural theory continues to serve as a valuable framework for Christian educators, offering practical tools to guide and support the spiritual development of students in a rapidly changing educational landscape.

#### SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Gelman, Susan A. 2009. "Learning from Others: Children's Construction of Concepts." *Annual Review of Psychology* 60, no. 1: 115–40. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093659.
- Hattie, John, and Helen Timperley. 2007. "The Power of Feedback." *Review of Educational Research* 77, no. 1: 81–112. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298487.
- Nasir, Na'ilah S., and Victoria Suad. 2008. "From the Exotic to the Mundane: A Qualitative Analysis of African American High School Students' Science-Related Interests." *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 45, no. 8: 955–80.
- Ormrod, Jeanne. 2011. Educational Psychology: Developing Learners. Ingram.
- Rogoff, Barbara. 2003. *The Cultural Nature of Human Development*. London, England: Oxford University Press.
- Roseth, Cary J., David W. Johnson, and Roger T. Johnson. 2008. "Promoting Early Adolescents' Achievement and Peer Relationships: The Effects of Cooperative, Competitive, and Individualistic Goal Structures." *Psychological Bulletin* 134, no. 2: 223–46. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.223.
- Tomasello, Michael. 2003. *Constructing a Language: A Usage-Based Theory of Language Acquisition*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Van Der Veer, Rene, and Jaan Valsiner. 1994. *Understanding Vygotsky: A Quest for Synthesis*. Blackwell.
- Vygotsky, Lev S. 1978. *Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Processes*. Harvard University Press.
- Wertsch, James V. 1988. *Vygotsky and the Social Formation of Mind*. London, England: Harvard University Press.